

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# **Maturitas**

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/maturitas



# Review

# To exercise, or, not to exercise, during menopause and beyond



Lily Stojanovska <sup>a,\*</sup>, Vasso Apostolopoulos <sup>a</sup>, Remco Polman <sup>b</sup>, Erika Borkoles <sup>b</sup>

- <sup>a</sup> College of Health and Biomedicine, Centre for Chronic Disease Prevention and Management, Victoria University, PO Box 14428, Melbourne, Vic. 8001. Australia
- <sup>b</sup> College of Sport & Exercise Science, Victoria University, PO Box 14428, Melbourne, Vic. 8001, Australia

#### ARTICLE INFO

#### Article history: Received 23 December 2013 Received in revised form 15 January 2014 Accepted 16 January 2014

Keywords: Physical activity Menopause Hot flashes Vasomotor symptoms Physiological effects

#### ABSTRACT

Menopausal symptoms in women can be severe and disruptive to overall quality of life. Hormone replacement therapy, is known to be effective in ameliorating symptoms, however, reporting of side effects has resulted in alternative treatment options. Exercise has been assessed as an alternative treatment option for alleviating menopausal symptoms, including, psychological, vasomotor, somatic and sexual symptoms. Here we report the effects of physical activity and exercise on menopause symptoms in menopausal women.

© 2014 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

# Contents

1.	Introduction	318
2.		319
3.		319
	3.1. Benefits to vasomotor symptoms	319
	3.2. Benefits to psychological symptoms	
	3.3. Benefits to somatic symptoms	320
	3.4. Benefits to sexual symptoms	320
4.	Or, not to exercise	320
5.	Exercise beyond menopause	321
6.	Why bother with exercise during menopause?	321
7.		321
	Contributors	322
	Competing interest. Funding.	322
	Funding	322
	Provenance and peer review	322
	References	

# 1. Introduction

Menopause, from the Greek word *men-* (month) and *pausis* (cessation), is defined as the end of the woman's fertile life, following loss of ovarian follicular function, usually occurring in the late 40s to early 50s. The transition is not sudden or abrupt and occurs over several years (5–8 years), and is commonly referred to as, change of

life or the climacteric. During the transition, a number of signs and symptoms may occur, including, vasomotor symptoms (hot flashes, palpitations), psychological symptoms (mood changes, depression, irritability, anxiety, sleep disturbances), cognitive symptoms memory problems, concentration) and, atrophic effects (atrophic vaginitis, bladder irritability) [1–4]. Women also report symptoms including night sweats, headaches, fatigue, decreased libido, severe itchiness, and back and muscle pains [5]. Such symptoms can significantly disrupt a woman's daily activities and overall quality of life [1–4]. Further, during menopause and aging, with changing hormone levels, women are at an increased change of chronic

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +613 9919 2737; fax: +613 9919 2465. E-mail address: Lily.Stojanovska@vu.edu.au (L. Stojanovska).

conditions such as, cancer, type-2 diabetes, autoimmunity, osteo-porosis and cardiovascular diseases.

Hormonal replacement therapy (HRT), use of synthetic hormones, estrogen and progestin in women with intact uterus, or estrogen alone for women who have undergone hysterectomy, has been the most effective treatment for the relief of menopause symptoms but is not without risks [6]. A large randomised trial, by the Women's Health Initiative, reported an increased risk of breast cancer and heart disease [7]. In a later study of estrogen alone, there was no association with increased risk of breast cancer, although, the trial was prematurely stopped because of increased risk of stroke [8]. The Million Women Study by Cancer Research UK and the National Health Services, assessed the effects of HRT use in over one million women, and confirmed that HRT was associated with increased breast cancer risks, especially when both estrogen and progestin were used [9-11]. As a consequence of these findings many women have become reluctant to continue or commence HRT due to fear of adverse risks, which has resulted in a significant decrease in the incidence of breast cancer over the last 10 years [12,13]. Recently, a global consensus statement on menopausal hormone therapy was published which was aimed for women and health care practitioners to make appropriate decisions on the use of HRT [14]. As a result of the effects of HRT, women seek alternative treatment options, particularly complementary and alternative

Numerous alternative therapies currently available claim to provide a wide array of benefits to menopausal women, however, scientific support is lacking in most instances. Phytoestrogens, black cohosh, red clover, dong quai, evening primrose oil, ginseng, wild yam and maca (*Lepidium meyenii*) have been studied with conflicting results [15]. Due to breast cancer risks associated with HRT and inconclusive results of alternative treatments, physical activity and exercise has been proposed as an alternative means to improve a women's quality of life during menopausal transition and beyond [16–18].

#### 2. The benefits of exercise for overall wellbeing

Physical activity was recognised by the ancient Greeks for health and wellbeing. Hippocrates (460–370 BC) stated "Eating alone will not keep a man well; he must also take exercise. For food and exercise, while possessing opposite qualities, yet work together to produce health". Physical inactivity is ranked just behind cigarette smoking as a major cause of ill health, placing an enormous economic cost worldwide. In 1996, following the report by the United States Surgeon General's report on the effects of physical activity on health (USDHHS1996), led to an international important component of public health and wellbeing. The short-term benefits of exercise includes, increases in endurance, metabolism and energy, aids in healthier muscles, joints and bones, decreases stress, improved cognitive functioning and promotes better sleeping patterns. Regular exercise participation, either as part of a lifestyle or as part of a disease intervention program are associated with better quality of life and health outcomes, particularly to cancer [19], heart disease, stroke, blood pressure, type-2 diabetes, obesity, osteoporosis, cognitive functioning and mental health and wellbeing [20-23].

A 12 week study in obese middle-aged women undertaking 1 h, 3 days per week resistance and aerobic exercise revealed that metabolic syndrome factors (blood pressure, percent body fat, fasting glucose levels, triglyceride and cholesterol levels) and, visfatin levels, were significantly decreased [24]. Likewise, 3 classes per week, of Bikram yoga improves glucose tolerance in older obese subjects [25], and resistance exercise significantly decreased triglyceride values [26].

An analysis based on 80 studies demonstrated a positive correlation between physical activity and clinical depression, regardless of gender, age or health status [27], and regular exercise by patients after termination of anti-depressants, had lower depression scores than those who were sedentary [28]. On the whole about or regular physical activity participation results in enhanced psychological well being. This includes improved mood [29], self-esteem [30], and reduced anxiety [31] and stress [32].

Menopause is commonly associated with a range of health complaints, including hot flashes, urinary disorders, joint pain and psychological distress. Women reporting menopausal symptoms are generally of overall poorer health [29]. Serious chronic conditions such as osteoporosis and cardiovascular diseases are more likely to occur after menopause than before [30]. In this respect physical activity has a positive impact on bone density in menopausal women. For example, greater physical activity within 4 life domains, of, sport, active living, home, and work was associated with higher peak femoral neck strength relative to load in 1919 menopausal women [31]. Moreover, physical activity has a positive effect in the tibial cartilage of the knee during menopause [32].

It is clear that there are many benefits of exercise on bone [33], cardiovascular, metabolic [34,35], diabetes [36], cancer, longevity [37], psychological well being [38,39] and overall quality of life [26]. Hence, it is appropriate for women to be physically active throughout the menopausal transition and afterwards.

# 3. To exercise

It is believed that loss of estrogen levels in women to be the main cause of the symptoms associated with menopause. According to the Centre for Disease Control and Prevention, regular exercise helps relieve stress, enhances overall quality of life, and reduces weight gain and muscle loss, the most frequent side effects of menopause. It is recommended that at least 150 min of aerobic activity and 75 min of vigorous activity to be undertaken per week for cardiovascular health. In addition, strength training should be included in order to build bone and muscle strength, aid in body fat burn and increase in metabolism, also important factors during menopause.

For example, in a group of menopausal women aged 55–72 who were involved in an exercise program, of 3 h per week for 12 months, experienced significantly improved physical and mental health and overall quality of life compared to those who were sedentary [40]. More importantly a higher proportion of those who did not participate in the exercise regime reported menopause symptoms (58% reporting symptoms at the beginning of the study compared to 68% at the end of the study), compared to a significant lower reporting in those participating in the exercise study (50% reporting prior to the study compared to 37% at the end of the study). Exercise is therefore considered an important factor to alleviate menopause symptoms. The woman's ability to choose their preferred physical activity increases the likelihood that they will adhere to exercise as a treatment method.

Exercise appears to be a cost-effective alternative with few known side effects. Most importantly, women with greater levels of physical activity report improvements in mental and physical aspects of quality of life [41,42]. Such improvements can even be achieved with low intensity aerobic activity, such as walking and dancing [43].

# 3.1. Benefits to vasomotor symptoms

The years leading up to menopause, during menopause and early postmenopause, women experience vasomotor related symptoms such as, hot flashes, night sweats and sleep disturbances. Symptoms could be so severe that the overall quality of life of a woman is

severely affected. HRT has been shown to alleviate such symptoms but as indicated can have serious side effects. Lifestyle modification interventions, including structured exercise and physical activity, have the potential to reduce vasomotor menopausal symptoms [18,44]. In fact, in the longitudinal Melbourne Women's Midlife Health Project, in which 438 women were followed over 8 years, those who exercised every day at baseline were 49% less likely to report hot flashes, and those whose exercise levels decreased were more likely to report hot flashes [45]. Moderate physical activity was associated with decreased objective and subjective hot flashes 24 h post exercise [46], although worse reported symptoms were reported in women with lower fitness levels. In a randomised controlled trial, 176 symptomatic sedentary women who were given an aerobic exercise regime  $50 \min 4 \times$  per week over 6 months, reported a decrease in the frequency of hot flashes [47]. In 3201 women aged 42-52 years old, monitored yearly for 8 years, hot flashes were associated with higher cholesterol, triglyceride and apolipoprotein A levels [48], and, in 3075 women, there was a strong correlation between hot flashes and insulin resistance [49]. Physical activity has positive associations in reducing cholesterol, triglycerides, apolipoprotein and glucose levels [24,25], and, is associated with reducing hot flash symptoms [50].

Finally, sleep quality has also been found to be better in menopausal women who are physically active [51]. For example, physically active women have favourable sleep characteristics with fewer awakenings during the night [52] and improved quality of sleep [53].

# 3.2. Benefits to psychological symptoms

In the years leading up to, and during menopause, many women report symptoms of, depression (unhappiness, irritability, tearfulness, lack of energy) or anxiety (mood swings, insomnia, heart palpitations, panic attacks, forgetfulness or problems with focus and concentration). Studies have found that exercise participation results in lower perception of symptom severity. These findings add to the evidence suggesting that exercise moderates the psychological symptoms associated with menopause [54,55]. The effects of exercise in reducing psychological symptoms have been widely reported. A study including Australian midlife women, noted, that exercise was beneficial for somatic and psychological symptoms including depression and anxiety, but not for vasomotor symptoms or sexual function [56]. Likewise, in a group of Korean women, those who were depressed experienced more menopausal symptoms than women who were not depressed, and those who exercised on a regular basis, were less depressed and less symptomatic than those who were not physically active [57].

Exercise as an intervention has also been shown to have a positive impact on menopausal symptoms, depression and quality of life. Providing mental distraction and social interaction [26,56] are some of the explanations provided for the psychological benefits associated with exercise participation.

Habitual physical activities, those that are part of the participants lifestyle, such as, walking, cycling, gardening and work related physical activities of no more than 60 min per day, have also been found to have a favourable effect on menopause symptoms and quality of life. They improve mood and enhance psychological functioning [58,59]. In a cross sectional study of 151 regular physically activity women the total Greene score and psychological sub-score were found to be improved [60]. Similarly, in 60 postmenopausal women, those in the exercise group reported improvements in depression and anxiety compared to a control group [61]. Overall, an immediate bout of exercise and regular participation is associated with improved psychological functioning in menopausal women.

#### 3.3. Benefits to somatic symptoms

Somatic symptoms are those related to the body, which includes muscle and joint pains, numbness or tingling in the extremities or elsewhere, dizziness, headaches and shortness of breath. The Health 2000 study in Finnish women reported that physically active women reported significantly fewer somatic symptoms and pain compared to women that were not physically active [62]. Eight years later those that remained physically active exhibited improved quality of life compared to those who were not physically active [63]. Physical activity was also found to improve somatic symptoms in a study of 370 Brazilian women [64]. In addition, in a large cross-sectional study in British women, somatic symptoms were 28% lower among active women [16]. Similarly, in a longitudinal study of 3300 Australian women, increase in physical activity was associated with fewer somatic symptoms [65]. In the Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN) study, in over 7 years follow-up, it was noted that physically active women experienced less bodily pain over time during the menopause transition [66]. Likewise, in a 3-year longitudinal study of over 2400 women from SWAN demonstrated that women who were more physically active at midlife experience less bodily pain over time [67]. This suggests that physical activity positively influences the somatic symptoms in menopausal women and increases overall quality of life.

# 3.4. Benefits to sexual symptoms

As a result of estrogen deprivation during the menopause transition the woman's sexual drive and functioning decreases. Symptoms of vaginal dryness or thinning of the wall, sexual dysfunction or discomfort are common. In a study of 42 postmenopausal women, divided into 2 groups of aerobic or resistance exercise programs of 3 days per week for 8 weeks, no effects were noted for urogenital complaints and sexual symptoms [65]. However, in a cross sectional study of 151 women who were physical activity, reported improved sexual symptoms [60]. Recently, in 273 Iranian women, a negative significant relation was observed between sexual problems and vaginal dryness and the level of physical activity [68]. The findings with regard to exercise and sexual functioning are equivocal. In addition, this is an area which requires further examination.

#### 4. Or, not to exercise

Not all studies have provided evidence for the moderating effects of exercise participation. The type of exercise intervention was analysed amongst 6 eligible studies in the management of vasomotor menopausal symptoms and was compared to HRT [69]. There was insufficient evidence demonstrating that exercise was effective in treating vasomotor menopausal symptoms, and, it was not clear whether exercise was more beneficial compared to HRT or yoga [69]. In addition, data from the Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health including 3330 women suggested that no improvements in vasomotor or psychological symptoms and only marginal improvements in somatic symptoms were noted when physical activity was introduced as a factor influencing these symptoms [65]. In a study of 280 women, increasing physical activity had no effect on vasomotor and sexual symptoms of menopause [55], and, in 24 women participating in a 3 month physical exercise protocol there were no improvements in sexual function [70]. In a number of studies including, 16,000 USA women [71], 173 African American and Caucasian women [72], and in 338 overweight women [73], no associations were found between physical activity and vasomotor symptoms. Recently, in a randomised controlled study of 237 women partaking in yoga classes, no improvement to

vasomotor symptoms frequency were noted [51]. Likewise, in 164 women partaking moderate physical activity, including walking and yoga, for 4 months, yielded no improvements in sleep quality in menopausal women [74]. In another randomised controlled trial in 3 different sites, which involved 106 women to moderate exercise for 12 weeks and 142 women with no addition of exercise to their daily routine, did not improve vasomotor symptoms, however, small improvements were seen in sleep quality, insomnia and mood including depression [75]. A cross sectional study of 1071 postmenopausal Turkish women who attended an outpatient clinic from 2005 to 2012, demonstrated no association between regular exercise and urogenital symptoms [76]. Further, in a Norwegian study of 2002 women there was no relation amongst symptom burden and degree of physical exercise [77]. Likewise, in a Nigerian population of 547 women there was no association with physical activity and menopausal symptoms and overall health related problems [78]. These findings demonstrate that physical exercise has not consistently been shown to be beneficial in ameliorating symptoms associated to menopause.

Important reasons for the equivocal findings on the benefits of exercise on menopausal symptoms are the fact that studies have often assessed physical activity and exercise behaviours by means of self-report rather than objectively. In addition, exercise mode, intensity, frequency and duration has varied across the different studies making generalisations difficult. Finally, some studies have used participants who were already active prior to menopause whereas others include women who started exercise to alleviate symptoms. Different mechanisms might underlie symptomology in those are active prior to and during menopause versus those who take up exercise during menopause.

# 5. Exercise beyond menopause

Habitual activity has numerous health benefits, including decreased risk or cardiorespiratory problems, metabolic syndromes, cancer and improved muscle and bone health and psychological symptoms. The risk of having one of these health issues is most prevalent postmenopause [79]. Cardiovascular disease is increased in postmenopausal women, and the risk is lower in physically active women [80], by improving antioxidant capacity and decreasing body iron burden [81]. Blood pressure is lower is physically active postmenopausal women compared to healthy sedentary women [80,82], and, resistance training with an intensity of 60% of 1 repeat for 12 weeks has beneficial effects on blood pressure, heart rate and cholesterol levels [83]. Likewise, a modified relaxation technique intervention in Thai postmenopausal women had positive effects in lowering blood pressure as soon as 4 weeks after start of treatment [84]. Interestingly, whole body vibration exercise training improves blood pressure, systemic and leg arterial stiffness, and muscle strength, in postmenopausal women [85] although vibration exercise is not without risks. In addition, cardiorespiratory exercise improves metabolic syndrome effects (waist circumference, blood pressure and fasting glucose in postmenopausal women [86]. Further, aerobic exercise and calorie restriction improves insulin sensitivity and reduces the risk of diabetes in postmenopausal women [87]. Decrease in bone mineral density is associated with post menopause, and, walking for more than 6 months improves femoral neck bone mineral density in menopause women as analysed in 10 different trials [88]. Further, skeletal muscle regeneration efficiency declines with age and is related to the decline in sex hormones. Long term resistance training increases muscle strength in postmenopausal women [89]. Clinical trials are currently being undertaken to determine the effects of exercise on skeletal muscle regeneration and maintenance of muscle mass in postmenopausal women [90]. Physical activity plays a pivotal role in maintaining health and prevent disease beyond menopause, including reduction in cardiovascular disease, breast cancer and diabetes, increasing muscle and bone mass, improving mood and cognitive functioning and overall quality of life [91]. It is important for exercise to play a major role in postmenopausal women, to decrease the risks of disease and improve quality of life.

#### 6. Why bother with exercise during menopause?

Physical activity during the menopause transition and post menopause, offers many benefits such as, weight gain prevention, strengthens bones and increases muscle mass and reduces the risks of other diseases (cancer, diabetes, heart disease). Exercise intervention programs have demonstrated to reduce menopause symptoms, including those of somatic, psychological and to a lesser extent vasomotor and sexual symptoms. Exercise has not been proven to treat menopausal symptoms, however, physically active women during and after menopause are less stressed and have better overall quality of life. Overall, the evidence suggests that exercise is a useful intervention strategy for women during and post menopause to alleviate symptoms. More importantly, exercise has numerous other benefits and is safe with no reported side-effects.

# 7. Future prospects

Due to inconsistencies associated with effects of exercise to menopause symptoms, in particular those relating to vasomotor symptoms, more well designed and sufficiently powered randomised trials are required to understand the benefits of exercise and menopause symptoms. The inconsistencies reported may be due to varying sample sizes, non-randomised designs, inadequate specified exercise dose (vigorous vs moderate intensity; frequency, duration), mode (aerobic vs resistance exercise), and lack of followup. To this effect, a randomised control study over 12 months, is currently being conducted in 261 women to determine physical activity and its effects on hot flashes, night sweats and other menopausal symptoms [92]. Further, the Menopause Strategies: Findings Lasting Awareness for Symptoms and Health (MeFLASH) Network, a collaborative project at 5 clinical sites in USA, is currently undertaking a 3 by 2 factorial design study assessing yoga, exercise and omega-3 supplementation and their effects on menopause symptoms [93,94]. Interestingly in the MeFLASH trial, 112 previously sedentary women with hot flashes are randomised into moderate to vigorous exercise and are compared to 150 active control women. Findings will help aid in determining whether physical activity has any effects on menopause symptoms, in particular to vasomotor symptoms.

Previous research has shown that weight is associated to menopause symptoms. A study involving 3330 women in the Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health demonstrated a clear relationship with total and vasomotor symptoms and weight loss [65]. In an 8 year follow up study of 1165 Finnish women, those whose weight remained stable improved their quality of life compared to women who had gained weight [63]. Vasomotor symptoms such as hot flashes and night sweats are more prevalent in women with higher body mass index [95], and in an intensive behavioural weight loss intervention study, which included physical activity, in obese women, resulted in improvement in hot flashes [73]. Conversely, 430 women in a 6 month controlled study demonstrated no associations of weight change with mental and physical quality of life [41]. Future studies should involve weight or weight loss, by means of physical activity, and their effects on menopausal symptoms.

There are many known benefits of exercise on bone, cardio-vascular, metabolic, and psychological health. Regular exercise is known to boost the immune system [96,97], and, decreases inflammation [98] in menopausal women. Studies relating physical activity, to, immunological status, to, menopausal symptoms, during menopause and beyond, hold the key to understanding the underlying mechanisms to menopause symptoms.

# **Contributors**

None of the authors have any contributing interests and no financial interests in writing of this review article. There is no commercial involvement in this review article.

# **Competing interest**

No financial assistance was received in the writing of this review article.

# **Funding**

None.

# Provenance and peer review

Commissioned and externally peer reviewed.

#### References

- Freeman EW, Sherif K. Prevalence of hot flushes and night sweats around the world: a systematic review. Climacteric: The Journal of the International Menopause Society 2007;10(3):197–214.
- [2] Schiff I. Invited reviews: a new addition to Menopause. Menopause 2013;20(3):243.
- [3] Copeland JL, Chu SY, Tremblay MS. Aging, physical activity, and hormones in women a review. Journal of Aging and Physical Activity 2004;12(1):101–16.
- [4] Philp HA. Hot flashes a review of the literature on alternative and complementary treatment approaches. Alternative Medicine Review 2003;8(3):284–302.
- [5] Liu M, Wang Y, Li X, et al. A health survey of Beijing middle-aged registered nurses during menopause. Maturitas 2013;74(1):84–8.
- [6] Utian WH, Woods NF. Impact of hormone therapy on quality of life after menopause. Menopause 2013;20(10):1098–105.
- [7] Pradhan AD, Manson JE, Rossouw JE, et al. Inflammatory biomarkers, hormone replacement therapy, and incident coronary heart disease: prospective analysis from the Women's Health Initiative observational study. JAMA 2002;288(8):980-7.
- [8] Anderson GL, Limacher M, Assaf AR, et al. Effects of conjugated equine estrogen in postmenopausal women with hysterectomy: the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2004;291(14):1701–12.
- [9] Banks E, Beral V, Reeves G. Million women study C: published results on breast cancer and hormone replacement therapy in the million women study are correct. Climacteric: The journal of the International Menopause Society 2004;7(4):415–6 [author reply 416–7].
- [10] Beral V, Banks E, Reeves G. Million women study C: effects of estrogen-only treatment in postmenopausal women. JAMA 2004;292(6):684 [author reply 685-6].
- [11] Gray S. Breast cancer and hormone-replacement therapy: the million women study. Lancet 2003;362(9392):1332 [author reply 1332].
- [12] Clarke CA, Glaser SL, Uratsu CS, Selby JV, Kushi LH, Herrinton LJ. Recent declines in hormone therapy utilization and breast cancer incidence: clinical and population-based evidence. Journal of Clinical Oncology 2006;24(33):e49–50.
- [13] Ravdin PM, Cronin KA, Howlader N, et al. The decrease in breast-cancer incidence in 2003 in the United States. New England Journal of Medicine 2007;356(16):1670-4.
- [14] de Villiers TJ, Gass ML, Haines CJ, et al. Global consensus statement on menopausal hormone therapy. Maturitas 2013;74(4):391–2.
- [15] Stojanovska L, Kitanovaska V. The effect of complementary and alternative therapy at menopause: trick or treat? Current Topics in Menopause 2013:385–413. Bentham Science Publisher.
- [16] Daley A, Macarthur C, Stokes-Lampard H, McManus R, Wilson S, Mutrie N. Exercise participation, body mass index, and health-related quality of life in women of menopausal age. The British Journal of General Practice: The Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners 2007;57(535):130–5.
- [17] Daley A, Stokes-Lampard H, Wilson S, Rees M, Roalfe A, Macarthur C. What women want? Exercise preferences of menopausal women. Maturitas 2011;68(2):174–8.

- [18] Daley AJ, Stokes-Lampard HJ, MacArthur C. Exercise to reduce vasomotor and other menopausal symptoms: a review. Maturitas 2009;63(3):176–80.
- [19] Chlebowski RT. Nutrition and physical activity influence on breast cancer incidence and outcome. Breast 2013;22(Suppl. 2):S30–7.
- [20] Ainsworth BE, Sternfeld B, Slattery ML, Daguise V, Zahm SH. Physical activity and breast cancer: evaluation of physical activity assessment methods. Cancer 1998;83(3 Suppl.):611–20.
- [21] Eriksen W, Bruusgaard D. Do physical leisure time activities prevent fatigue? A 15 month prospective study of nurses' aides. British Journal of Sports Medicine 2004;38(3):331–6.
- [22] King AC, Oman RF, Brassington GS, Bliwise DL, Haskell WL. Moderate-intensity exercise and self-rated quality of sleep in older adults. A randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1997;277(1):32–7.
- [23] McMurray RG, Ainsworth BE, Harrell JS, Griggs TR, Williams OD. Is physical activity or aerobic power more influential on reducing cardiovascular disease risk factors? Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 1998;30(10):1521–9.
- [24] Seo DI, So WY, Ha S, et al. Effects of 12 weeks of combined exercise training on visfatin and metabolic syndrome factors in obese middle-aged women. Journal of Sports, Science and Medicine 2011;10(1):222–6.
- [25] Hunter SD, Dhindsa M, Cunningham E, Tarumi T, Alkatan M, Tanaka H. Improvements in glucose tolerance with Bikram yoga in older obese adults: a pilot study. Journal of Bodywork and Movement Therapies 2013;17(4):404–7.
- [26] Agil A, Abike F, Daskapan A, Alaca R, Tuzun H. Short-term exercise approaches on menopausal symptoms, psychological health, and quality of life in postmenopausal women. Obstetrics and Gynecology International 2010;2010, pii: 274261 [Epub 2010 Aug 16].
- [27] North TC, McCullagh P, Tran ZV. Effect of exercise on depression. Exercise and Sport Sciences Review 1990;18:379–415.
- [28] LaFontaine TP, DiLorenzo TM, Frensch PA, Stucky-Ropp RC, Bargman EP, McDonald DG. Aerobic exercise and mood. A brief review, 1985–1990. Sports Medicine 1992;13(3):160–70.
- [29] Stefanopoulou E, Shah D, Shah R, Gupta P, Sturdee D, Hunter MS. An international menopause society study of climate, altitude, temperature (IMS-CAT) and vasomotor symptoms in urban Indian regions. Climacteric: The Journal of the International Menopause Society 2013, http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/13697137.2013.852169 [Epub ahead of print].
- [30] Ringa V. Menopause and treatments. Quality of Life Research 2000;9:695-707.
- [31] Mori T, Ishii S, Greendale GA, et al. Physical activity as determinant of femoral neck strength relative to load in adult women: findings from the hip strength across the menopause transition study. Osteoporosis International 2014;25(1):265–72.
- [32] Fontinele RG, Mariotti VB, Vazzolere AM, Ferrao JS, Kfoury Jr JR, De Souza RR. Menopause, exercise, and knee. What happens? Microscopy Research and Technique 2013;76(4):381–7.
- [33] Kemmler W, Weineck J, Kalender WA, Engelke K. The effect of habitual physical activity, non-athletic exercise, muscle strength, and VO<sub>2max</sub> on bone mineral density is rather low in early postmenopausal osteopenic women. Journal of Musculoskeletal Neuron Interaction 2004;4(3):325–34.
- [34] Donnelly JE, Blair SN, Jakicic JM, Manore MM, Rankin JW, Smith BK. American college of sports medicine position stand appropriate physical activity intervention strategies for weight loss and prevention of weight regain for adults. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 2009;41(2):459–71.
- [35] Lovejoy JC, Champagne CM, de Jonge L, Xie H, Smith SR. Increased visceral fat and decreased energy expenditure during the menopausal transition. International Journal of Obesity 2008;32(6):949–58.
- [36] Hu FB, Sigal RJ, Rich-Edwards JW, et al. Walking compared with vigorous physical activity and risk of type 2 diabetes in women: a prospective study. JAMA 1999;282(15):1433–9.
- [37] Lee IM, Paffenbarger Jr RS. Associations of light, moderate, and vigorous intensity physical activity with longevity. The harvard alumni health study. American Journal of Epidemiology 2000;151(3):293–9.
- 38] Thurston RC, Joffe H, Soares CN, Harlow BL. Physical activity and risk of vasomotor symptoms in women with and without a history of depression: results from the harvard study of moods and cycles. Menopause 2006;13(4):553–60.
- [39] Elavsky S, McAuley E. Personality, menopausal symptoms, and physical activity outcomes in middle-aged women. Personality and Individual Differences 2009;46(2):123–8.
- [40] Villaverde-Gutierrez C, Araujo E, Cruz F, Roa JM, Barbosa W, Ruiz-Villaverde G. Quality of life of rural menopausal women in response to a customized exercise programme. Journal of Advanced Nursing 2006;54(1):11–9.
- [41] Martin CK, Church TS, Thompson AM, Earnest CP, Blair SN. Exercise dose and quality of life: a randomized controlled trial. Archives of Internal Medicine 2009;169(3):269–78.
- [42] Moriyama CK, Oneda B, Bernardo FR, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of the effects of physical exercises and estrogen therapy on health-related quality of life in postmenopausal women. Menopause 2008;15(4 Pt 1):613–8.
- [43] de Souza Santos CA, Dantas EEM, Moreira MHR. Correlation of physical aptitude; functional capacity, corporal balance and quality of life (QoL) among elderly women submitted to a post-menopausal physical activities program. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 2011;53(3):344–9.
- [44] Daley A, Stokes-Lampard H, Mutrie N, MacArthur C. Exercise for vasomotor menopausal symptoms. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2007;(October (4)):CD006108.
- [45] Guthrie JR, Smith AMA, Dennerstein L, Morse C. Physical activity and the menopause experience: a cross-sectional study. Maturitas 1994;20(2–3):71–80.

- [46] Elavsky S, Gonzales JU, Proctor DN, Williams N, Henderson VW. Effects of physical activity on vasomotor symptoms: examination using objective and subjective measures. Menopause 2012;19(10):1095–103.
- [47] Luoto R, Moilanen J, Heinonen R, et al. Effect of aerobic training on hot flushes and quality of life – a randomized controlled trial. Annals of Medicine 2012;44(6):616–26.
- [48] Thurston RC, El Khoudary SR, Sutton-Tyrrell K, et al. Vasomotor symptoms and lipid profiles in women transitioning through menopause. Obstetrics and Gynecology 2012;119(4):753–61.
- [49] Thurston RC, El Khoudary SR, Sutton-Tyrrell K, et al. Vasomotor symptoms and insulin resistance in the study of women's health across the nation. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 2012;97(10):3487–94.
- [50] Elavsky S, Molenaar PCM, Gold CH, Williams NI, Aronson KR. Daily physical activity and menopausal hot flashes: applying a novel within-person approach to demonstrate individual differences. Maturitas 2012;71(3):287–93.
- [51] Newton KM, Reed SD, Guthrie KA, et al. Efficacy of yoga for vasomotor symptoms: a randomized controlled trial. Menopause 2013, pii: S0002-9378(13)02015-2 [Epub ahead of print].
- [52] Lambiase MJ, Thurston RC. Physical activity and sleep among midlife women with vasomotor symptoms. Menopause 2013;20(9):946–52.
- [53] Mansikkamaki K, Raitanen J, Nygard CH, Heinonen R, Mikkola T, EijaTomas Luoto R. Sleep quality and aerobic training among menopausal women – a randomized controlled trial. Maturitas 2012;72(4):339–45.
- [54] Elavsky S. Physical activity, menopause, and quality of life: the role of affect and self-worth across time. Menopause 2009;16(2):265–71.
- [55] McAndrew LM, Napolitano MA, Albrecht A, Farrell NC, Marcus BH, Whiteley JA. When, why and for whom there is a relationship between physical activity and menopause symptoms. Maturitas 2009;64(2):119–25.
- [56] Mirzaiinjmabadi K, Anderson D, Barnes M. The relationship between exercise, body mass index and menopausal symptoms in midlife Australian women. International Journal of Nursing Practice 2006;12:28–34.
- [57] Lee Y, Kim H. Relationships between menopausal symptoms, depression, and exercise in middle-aged women: a cross-sectional survey. International Journal of Nursing Studies 2008;45(12):1816–22.
- [58] de Azevedo Guimaraes AC, Baptista F. Influence of habitual physical activity on the symptoms of climacterium/menopause and the quality of life of middleaged women. International Journal of Women's Health 2011;3:319–28.
- [59] Elavsky S, McAuley E. Physical activity and mental health outcomes during menopause: a randomized controlled trial. Annals of Behavioral Medicine 2007;33(2):132–42.
- [60] Haimov-Kochman R, Constantini N, Brzezinski A, Hochner-Celnikier D. Regular exercise is the most significant lifestyle parameter associated with the severity of climacteric symptoms: a cross sectional study. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology 2013;170(1):229–34.
- [61] Villaverde Gutierrez C, Torres Luque G, Abalos Medina GM, et al. Influence of exercise on mood in postmenopausal women. Journal of Clinical Nursing 2012;21(7–8):923–8.
- [62] Moilanen J, Aalto AM, Hemminki E, Aro AR, Raitanen J, Luoto R. Prevalence of menopause symptoms and their association with lifestyle among Finnish middle-aged women. Maturitas 2010;67(4):368–74.
- [63] Moilanen JM, Aalto AM, Raitanen J, Hemminki E, Aro AR, Luoto R. Physical activity and change in quality of life during menopause an 8-year follow-up study. Health and Ouality of Life Outcomes 2012; 10:8.
- [64] Gonçalves AKS, Canário ACG, Cabral PU, et al. Impact of physical activity on quality of life in middle-aged women: a population based study. Impacto da atividade física na qualidade de vida de mulheres de meia idade: Estudo de base populacional 2011:33(12):408-13.
- [65] Van Poppel MNM, Brown WJ. "It's my hormones, doctor" does physical activity help with menopausal symptoms? Menopause 2008;15(1):78–85.
- [66] Avis NE, Colvin A, Bromberger JT, et al. Change in health-related quality of life over the menopausal transition in a multiethnic cohort of middle-aged women: study of women's health across the nation. Menopause 2009:16(5):860–9.
- [67] Dugan SA, Everson-Rose SA, Karavolos K, Sternfeld B, Wesley D, Powell LH. The impact of physical activity level on SF-36 role-physical and bodily pain indices in midlife women. Journal of Physical Activity and Health 2009;6(1):33-42.
- [68] Javadivala Z, Kousha A, Allahverdipour H, Asghari Jafarabadi M, Tallebian H. Modeling the relationship between physical activity and quality of life in menopausal-aged women: a cross-sectional study. Journal of Research in Health Sciences 2013;13(2):168–75.
- [69] Daley A, Stokes-Lampard H, MacArthur C. Exercise for vasomotor menopausal symptoms (Review). The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2011;5:1–39.
- [70] Lara LA, Montenegro ML, Franco MM, Abreu DC, Rosa e Silva AC, Ferreira CH. Is the sexual satisfaction of postmenopausal women enhanced by physical exercise and pelvic floor muscle training? The Journal of Sexual Medicine 2012;9(1):218–23.
- [71] Gold EB, Lasley B, Crawford SL, McConnell D, Joffe H, Greendale GA. Relation of daily urinary hormone patterns to vasomotor symptoms in a racially/ethnically diverse sample of midlife women: study of women's health across the nation. Reproductive Sciences 2007;14(8):786–97.
- [72] Wilbur J, Miller AM, McDevitt J, Wang E, Miller J. Menopausal status, moderateintensity walking, and symptoms in midlife women. Research and Theory for Nursing Practice 2005;19(2):163–80.

- [73] Huang AJ, Subak LL, Wing R, et al. An intensive behavioral weight loss intervention and hot flushes in women. Archives of Internal Medicine 2010;170(13):1161–7.
- [74] Elavsky S, McAuley E. Lack of perceived sleep improvement after 4-month structured exercise programs. Menopause 2007;14(3 Pt 1):535–40.
- [75] Sternfeld B, Guthrie KA, Ensrud KE, et al. Efficacy of exercise for menopausal symptoms: a randomized controlled trial. Menopause 2013. Aug12 [Epub ahead of print].
- [76] Aydin Y, Hassa H, Oge T, Yalcin OT, Mutlu FS. Frequency and determinants of urogenital symptoms in postmenopausal Islamic women. Menopause 2013;3;3.
- [77] Gjelsvik B, Rosvold EO, Straand J, Dalen I, Hunskaar S. Symptom prevalence during menopause and factors associated with symptoms and menopausal age results from the Norwegian Hordaland Women's Cohort study. Maturitas 2011;70(4):383–90.
- [78] Ogwumike OO, Kaka B, Adegbemigun O, Abiona T. Health-related and sociodemographic correlates of physical activity level amongst urban menopausal women in Nigeria. Maturitas 2012;73(4):349–53.
- [79] Sternfeld B, Dugan S. Physical activity and health during the menopausal transition. Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America 2011;38(3): 537–66
- [80] Stevenson ET, Davy KP, Jones PP, Desouza CA, Seals DR. Blood pressure risk factors in healthy postmenopausal women: physical activity and hormone replacement. Journal of Applied Physiology 1997;82(2):652–60.
- [81] Bartfay W, Bartfay E. A case-control study examining the effects of active versus sedentary lifestyles on measures of body iron burden and oxidative stress in postmenopausal women. Biological Research for Nursing 2014;16(1): 38–45.
- [82] Corrick KL, Hunter GR, Fisher G, Glasser SP. Changes in vascular hemodynamics in older women following 16 weeks of combined aerobic and resistance training. Journal of Clinical Hypertension 2013;15(4):241–6.
- [83] Gelecek N, Ilcin N, Subasi SS, Acar S, Demir N, Ormen M. The effects of resistance training on cardiovascular disease risk factors in postmenopausal women: a randomized-controlled trial. Health Care for Women International 2012;33(12):1072–85.
- [84] Saensak S, Vutyavanich T, Somboonporn W, Srisurapanont M. Modified relaxation technique for treating hypertension in Thai postmenopausal women. Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare 2013;6:373–8.
- [85] Figueroa A, Kalfon R, Madzima TA, Wong A. Whole-body vibration exercise training reduces arterial stiffness in postmenopausal women with prehypertension and hypertension. Menopause 2014:21(2):131–6.
- [86] Earnest CP, Johannsen NM, Swift DL, Lavie CJ, Blair SN, Church TS. Dose effect of cardiorespiratory exercise on metabolic syndrome in postmenopausal women. American Journal of Cardiology 2013;111(12):1805–11.
- [87] Ryan AS, Ortmeyer HK, Sorkin JD. Exercise with calorie restriction improves insulin sensitivity and glycogen synthase activity in obese postmenopausal women with impaired glucose tolerance. American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism 2012:302(1):E145–52.
- [88] Ma D, Wu L, He Z. Effects of walking on the preservation of bone mineral density in perimenopausal and postmenopausal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Menopause 2013;20(11):1216-26.
- [89] Botero JP, Shiguemoto GE, Prestes J, et al. Effects of long-term periodized resistance training on body composition, leptin, resistin and muscle strength in elderly post-menopausal women. Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness 2013:53(3):289–94.
- [90] Velders M, Diel P. How sex hormones promote skeletal muscle regeneration. Sports Medicine 2013;43(11):1089–100.
- [91] Pines A. Lifestyle and diet in postmenopausal women. Climacteric: The Journal of the International Menopause Society 2009;12(Suppl. 1):62–5.
- [92] Daley AJ, Stokes-Lampard H, Thomas A, et al. Aerobic exercise as a treatment for vasomotor menopausal symptoms: randomised controlled trial protocol. Maturitas 2013;76(4):350–6.
- [93] Newton KM, Carpenter JS, Guthrie KA, et al. Methods for the design of vasomotor symptom trials: the menopausal strategies: finding lasting answers to symptoms and health network. Menopause 2014;21(1):45–58.
- [94] Sternfeld B, LaCroix A, Caan BJ, et al. Design and methods of a multi-site, multi-behavioral treatment trial for menopausal symptoms: the MsFLASH experience. Contemporary Clinical Trials 2013;35(1):25–34.
- [95] Gold EB, Sternfeld B, Kelsey JL, et al. Relation of demographic and lifestyle factors to symptoms in a multi-racial/ethnic population of women 40–55 years of age. American Journal of Epidemiology 2000;152(5): 463
- [96] Izzicupo P, D'Amico MA, Bascelli A, et al. Walking training affects dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate and inflammation independent of changes in spontaneous physical activity. Menopause 2013;20(4):455–63.
- [97] Izzicupo P, Ghinassi B, D'Amico MA, et al. Effects of ACE I/D polymorphism and aerobic training on the immune-endocrine network and cardiovascular parameters of postmenopausal women. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 2013;98(10):4187–94.
- [98] Phillips MD, Patrizi RM, Cheek DJ, Wooten JS, Barbee JJ, Mitchell JB. Resistance training reduces subclinical inflammation in obese, postmenopausal women. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 2012;44(11): 2099–110.